University of South Bohemia Faculty of Biological Sciences Department of Molecular Biology and Biochemistry



Ph.D. thesis

Immune-related molecules in the gut of the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata

Lenka Grunclová

Supervisor: RNDr. Petr Kopáček, CSc.

Biology Centre of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, v.v.i. Institute of Parasitology Laboratory of Vector Immunology

České Budějovice, 2007

Grunclová L., 2007: Immune-related molecules in the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Ph.D. Thesis, in English – 73p., Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of South Bohemia, České Budějovice.

Annotation: Several genes coding for proteins which are affected by blood-meal in the midgut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* are presented. This set comprises tick gut lysozyme (TGL), two genes coding for putative inhibitors of cysteine peptidases of cystatins family (Om-cystatin1 and Om-cystatin 2), putative thyroglobulin domain containing protease inhibitor (Om-thyropin) and serine protease homolog (SPH). Complete cDNA sequences, tissue expression profiles, regulation of expression by blood meal, localization of native proteins in tick tissues and eventual activities of recombinant fusion proteins are illustrated.

Financial support: This work was supported by the grant No. A6022307 to P.K. from the Grant Agency of the Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, grant No. 206/06/0865 to P.K. and M.M. from the Grant Agency of the Czech Republic and Research Center No. LC06009, by projects FRG3/1104/2005 to L.G. and PhD program No. 524/03/H133 from Ministry of Education, Youth and Sports of the Czech Republic.

I declare that this thesis was performed by me or in collaboration with co-authors and with the help of cited literature.

České Budějovice, May 9, 2007

Lenka Grunclová

Acknowledgment

I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Petr Kopáček, for guidance, support and advices during my study and work in his laboratory.

I thank all members of our laboratory, namely Dan, Zdeny, Veronika, Jindra, Ondra, Helča, Tereza and Honza for help, tolerance and enjoyable lab atmosphere.

I also thank prof. Libor Grubhoffer and prof. Tomáš Scholz for the opportunity to study and research at the Institute of Parasitology.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my mom and Martin for their support, love and patience.

Contents:

Introduction	1
I. Ticks	2
II. The soft tick <i>Ornithodoros moubata</i>	3
III. The midgut of the soft ticks	4
1. Midgut structure and blood meal digestion	4
2. Tick immunity	6
Immune related processes and molecules	6
Tick-pathogen interaction	10
3. Tick gut immunity	12
Results and discussion	14
I. Tick gut lysozyme from the soft tick <i>Ornithodoros moubata</i>	15
Paper I	19
II. Identification of genes affected by blood feeding from O. moubata gut-specif	ïc
cDNA library	30
III. Cystatins from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata	33
Рарег II	39
IV. Thyropin from the soft tick <i>Ornithodoros moubata</i>	50
V. Serine protease homolog from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata	56
Summary of results	62
References	64

Introduction

Ticks are blood feeding external parasites and very important vectors of agents causing human and animal diseases, transmitting a number of protozoan, bacterial, rickettsial, spirochaetal and viral pathogens.

The midgut in ticks does not contain extracellular digestive enzymes and serves mainly as a major storage organ of a blood meal. Digestion occurs intracellularly by the cells of midgut epithelium (Sonenshine, 1991). The absence of proteolytic enzymes in the midgut lumen would make this organ a highly favorable environment for survival of ingested microbial pathogens in case there would not be any active defense mechanisms (Munderloh et al., 1995). Naturally occurring antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) from a first line of host defense against pathogens are involved in innate immunity (Bulet et al., 2004). Only few AMPs have been isolated from ticks.

In this work, several immune-related molecules from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* are characterized:

Lysozyme from the midgut of *O. moubata* is likely adapted to the digestive function. However it still shares some features with other antibacterial lysozymes that its defense role in the tick gut targeted especially against Gram-positive bacteria seems to be quite probable.

We have reported two members of the cystatin family in the soft tick *O. moubata*, and presented detailed functional and expression analyses. Our work suggests that the tick cystatin inhibitors most likely play several distinct roles and are regulated in time and space

We characterized and localized first tick cysteine protease inhibitor containing thyroglobulin type-I domain. The *O. moubata* Om-thyropin has all characteristics of other thyropin-family inhibitors, i. e. thyroglobulin type I domain containing three disulfide bonds and inhibition activity against cysteine protease cathepsin L.

The gut specific serine protease homolog was examined. Function of this homolog is unclear, it could be co-factor to serine proteases including to digestion, or interact with inhibitors of these proteases.

I. Ticks

Ticks are blood feeding external parasites of mammals, birds and reptiles occurring throughout the world. Currently 850 species have been described worldwide (Furman et al., 1984). There are two well-established families of tick, the Ixodidae (hard ticks) and Argasidae (soft ticks). Next to mosquitoes, ticks are very important vectors of agents causing human and animal diseases, transmitting a number of protozoan, bacterial, rickettsial, spirochaetal and viral pathogens. Both families of ticks differ in many respects (Tab. 1): adaptation of integument to different feeding strategy, mating and oviposition strategy, and differs in salivary gland morphology, regulation of water balance, blood meal digestion, etc.

	Soft ticks (Argasidae)	Hard ticks (Ixodidae)
Integument	Leathery integument allows for fast feeding	Sclerotized scutum protects during long attachment periods but needs a growth phase to allow for rapid engorgement
Feeding	Multiple fast feeding, escapes host immune response	Single slow feeding, locates host only once and imbibes large blood meal
Mating strategy	Mate while unfed or when fed: does not limit feeding event to host location	Mate after initial attachment only. Mating essential for rapid engorgement
Oviposition strategy	Lay several eggs batches, once after every feeding event	Lay one batch of eggs, after which female dies
Salivary gland morphology	One simple granular acinus fully developed before feeding	Multiple granular acini, that develop and changes before rapid engorgement
Regulation of water balance	Secrete water from blood meal via the coxal organs	Secrete water from blood meal via the salivary glands
Blood meal digestion	Feed first, digest later. First phase of digestion includes development of midgut epithelium	Low rate of feeding and digestion during preparatory feeding phase when ticks grows to allow rapid engorgement

Table 1: Survey of differences between hard ticks and soft ticks. Properties associated with blood feeding. Data obtained from Balashov (1972), Sonenshine (1991), Mans et al. (2004)

II. The soft tick Ornithodoros moubata

The soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* is widely distributed throughout eastern and central Africa and the northern part of South Africa (Van der Merwe, 1968; Walton, 1979). The vast majority of the soft ticks are nest parasites, residing in sheltered environments such as burrows, caves, or nests. The life stages of soft ticks are not readily distinguishable. The first life stage to come out of the egg, a six legged larva, molts directly to the first nymphal stage. Unlike hard ticks, many soft ticks go through multiple nymphal stages, gradually increasing in size until the final molt to the adult stage. Some soft ticks pass through up to seven nymphal molts before they become adults (Sonenshine, 1991).

Soft ticks feed several times during each life stage, and females lay multiple small batches of eggs between blood meals. The time to completion of the entire life cycle is generally much longer than that of hard ticks, lasting over several years. Additionally, many soft ticks have an extremely resistance to starvation, and can survive for many years without a blood meal (Furman et al., 1984). *O. moubata* is a vector of various pathogenic agents, including African swine fever virus (ASFV), *Borrelia duttoni*, causing African tick-borne relapsing fever, *Coxiella burunetti*, *Rickettsia* sp. (Burgdorfer et al., 1968; Derrick, 1939; Hess, 1971; Novy et al., 1906). *O. moubata* has become a useful laboratory model because of its size and relative simplicity of artificial feeding using ParafilmM[®] membrane (Schwan et al., 1991).



Figure 1: Soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. The development, from larvae to adult, of the soft tick; ventral and dorsal view on *O. moubata*, respectively.

III. The midgut of the soft ticks

1. Midgut structure and blood meal digestion

The midgut of the soft ticks consists of central ventriculus (stomach), numerous broad diverticula (caeca) and small, narrow tube, the intestine, which directs the undigested waste residues to the hindgut (Fig. 2). Intestine is absent in *O. moubata* and *Ornithodoros savignyi*. The waste products are accumulated in gut lumen through its life.

The midgut in ticks differs from insect in that it does not contain extracellular digestive enzymes and serves mainly as a major storage organ of a blood meal. Digestion occurs intracellularly by the cells of midgut epithelium (Sonenshine, 1991). The rich nutrient is only gradually absorbed by midgut cells and intact proteins can be found in gut contents of soft ticks even after several months after blood uptake (Balashov, 1972).

Digestive process in the Argasidae can be divided in three phases: (1) hemolysis, taking 2-3 days post feeding, (2) rapid digestion, beginning during or immediately after hemolysis, continuing several weeks to several months after feeding, and (3) slow digestion, lasting months or years in some species.



Figure 2: A schematic structure of gut of the soft ticks.

Ph-pharynx, E-esophagus; Ststomach (central ventriculus); Cacaeca (diverticula); RS-rectal sac; RT-rectal tube (intestine), absent in *Ornithodoros savignyi* and *O. moubata*

During the first phase of blood meal, hematin filled digestive cells and exhausted secretory cells are sloughed off. In *Argas persicus*, most erythrocytes agglutinate and are lysed rapidly. Some erythrocytes, thrombocytes and most leucocytes are ingested directly by the tick digestive cells by phagocytosis. Digestive cells form large vacuoles in which the ingested blood cells may remain evident for several days. Hemolysis is complete within 6

days in *A. persicus* (Tatchell, 1964). During the second phase, rapid digestion, the digestive cells enlarge and ingest protein and cellular element by the endocytosis. Endocytotic vesicles fuse to form larger inclusions, which in turn fuse with lysosomes to form heterolysosomes. Phagocytosis is the main process of blood absorption in *O. moubata* (Grandjean, 1984). A lytic process in the soft tick digestive cells is similar to hard tick digestion. Waste products are produced and excreted from digestive cells. As digestion is completed, during the third phase, the digestive cells detach from the basal lamina and the hematine granules are launched into the gut lumen as so-called residual bodies (Sonenshine, 1991). The structure of *O. moubata* midgut in phase towards the end of the rapid digestion is shown in Figure 3.

In contrast, the digestive cells of the hard tick midgut take up components, especially hemoglobin, by receptor mediated and fluid phase endocytosis and phagocytosis (Sonnenshine, 1991). Huge amount of heme is released during hemoglobin digestion in the hard ticks. Most of this heme is detoxified by accumulation into residual bodies in specialized organelles, the hemosomes, in midgut epithelium cells of *Boophilus microplus* (Lara et al., 2003).



Figure 3: *O. moubata* midgut structure, midgut epithelium and gut contents. Semi-thin section of the gut of *O. moubata* female 6 week after blood meal, stained with toulidine blue. M-midgut epithelium, Hg-hematin granules (residual bodies), Hc-hemoglobin crystals. Hemoglobin crystals appear irregularly shaped triangles and are composed of host hemoglobin (Smit et al., 1977).

Little known is about the metabolic processes involved in the intracellular digestion in ticks. Cysteine and aspartic peptidases are believed to conduce to hemoglobinolysis (Coons et al., 1986; Mendiola et al., 1996). The papain-type cysteine peptidase – cathepsin L from *Boophilus microplus* (Renard et al., 2000; 20002) and aspartic peptidase from *Haemaphysalis longicornis* (Boldbaatar et al., 2006) were sufficiently characterized and proven to be involved in blood digestion. Recently, an asparaginyl endopeptidase, a CD clan cysteine protease, from *Ixodes ricinus* was described in our laboratory as an enzyme which may activate *in-trans* other efficient peptidases of the digestion system (Sojka et al., 2007).

2. Tick immunity

Immune related processes and molecules

Ticks have the ability to control infection when challenged with various bacteria (Podboronov, 1991; Ceraul et al., 2002). Until now, only a limited number of processes and molecules related to innate immunity response in ticks have been described (Tab. 2).

On the other hand, the components and processes of the tick immunity known so far fit well to the overall scheme of the invertebrate immune system (Fig. 4):



4: Figure Schematic overview of invertebrate immune system response. Detection of microbial (microbial pathogens elicitors indicated in yellow) by recognitions proteins (green) activates an array of interconnected synergistic host and defense mechanisms (blue)

(1) Several lectins have been described as proteins able to recognize different patterns of glycan epitopes in *O. moubata*: DorinM (Kovář et al., 2000), OMFREP (Rego et al., 2005) and Omgalectin (Huang et al., 2007).

(2) In tick hemolymph were reported cellular immune mechanisms such as nodulation and encapsulation (Ceraul et al., 2002), cell mediated response (Johns et al., 1998; 2000), phagocytosis (Inoue et al., 2001; Burešová et al., 2006) and production of reactive oxygen species by hemocytes (Pereira et al., 2001).

(3) Serine proteases from *Haemaphysalis longicornis* (Mulenga et al., 2001), *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* (Mulenga et al., 2003) and cubilitin-related serine protease from *H. longicornis* (Myioshi et al., 2004a) were identified.

(4) A broad variety of antimicrobial peptides (AMPs), forming the first line of host defense against pathogens, have been describe in invertebrates (Bulet et al., 2004). Only few AMPs have been isolated from ticks (Tab. 2) and can be divided into several groups: *Hemoglobin fragments*

Tick digestion of blood meal hemoglobin may result in peptides that can destroy invading microorganisms. Hemoglobin fragments were reported in the midgut contents of the hard tick *Boophilus microplus* (Fogaça et al., 1999; Sforça et al., 2005). This fragment of bovine hemoglobin was active against Gram-positive bacteria and fungi. Two other AMP derivated from rabbit hemoglobin were isolated from the midgut of the soft tick *O. moubata*. Their activity increased markedly after blood feeding (Nakajima et al., 2003). Antimicrobial hemoglobin fragments were also found in the gut of *D. variabilis* (Sonenshine et al., 2005). *Defensins*

Defensins are widespread throughout the animal kingdom, both in vertebrates and invertebrates. On exposure to bacterial challenge, they are induced rapidly and exhibit bactericidal or bacteriostatic activity against numerous bacteria (Beerntsen et al., 2000; Gillespie et al., 1997). Defensins are small peptides (4 kDa), usually containing six cysteine residues. These peptides attack primarily Gram-positive bacteria, leading to cell lysis by the formation of membrane penetrating channels (Gillespie et al., 1997) and intramolecular bridges (Beerntsen et al., 2000).

Table 2. :	Summary	of immune	e-related	proteins	in	ticks
	•/					

Table 2. : Summary of immune-related proteins in ticks.						
	Process	Molecule	Tick species	Tissue	References	
PRRs	recognition by the pattern	DorinM	O. moubata	hemolymph	Kovář et al. (2000)	
	recognition receptors	OMFREP	O. moubata	hemolymph	Rego et al. (2005)	
		OMGalectin	O. moubata	hemocytes, midgut	Huang et al. (2007)	
Serine protease	transference system and	HLSG1, HLSG2	H. longicornis		Mulenga et al. (2001)	
	the intensification of the	RAMSP1-3	R. appendiculatus		Mulenga et al. (2003)	
	signal	Cubilitin-related serine protease	H. longicornis		Myioshi et al. (2004a)	
Protease inhibitors	broad spectrum protease	tick-α ₂ -macroglobulin	O. moubata	hemolymph	Kopáček et al. (2000)	
	inhibitor				Saravanan et al. (2003)	
Cellular immunity	nodulation, encapsulation		D. variabilis	hemolymph	Ceraul et al., (2002)	
2	phagocytosis		O. moubata	hemolymph	Inoue et al. (2001)	
			I. ricinus	hemolymph	Burešová et al. (2006)	
	production of reactive oxygen species		B. microplus	hemolymph	Pereira et al. (2001)	
Humoral response	antimicrobial peptides	hemoglobin fragments	O.moubata	gut contents	Nakajima et al. (2003)	
-	(AMPs)		B. microplus	gut contents	Fogaça et al. (1999)	
			D.variabilis	gut contents	Sonenshine et al. (2005)	
		defensins	O. moubata	hemolymph, midgut	Nakajima et al. (2001, 2002)	
			D. variabilis	hemocytes, midgut	Johns et al. (2001), Sonenshine et al. (2002)	
			B. microplus	hemocytes, fat body	Fogaça et al. (2004)	
			A. hebraeum	hemolymph	Lai et al. (2004)	
		lysozymes	O. moubata	midgut	Kopáček et al. (1999)	
					Grunclová et al. (2003)	
			D.variabilis	hemolymph	Simser et al. (2004a)	
					Johns et al. (1998)	
			D. andersoni	cell line	Mattila et al. (2007)	
					Simser et al.(2004a)	
	AMPs-protease inhibitors	cystatin- Hlcyst-2	H. longicornis	midgut, hemocytes	Zhou et al. (2006)	
		serpin-Ixodidin	B. microplus	hemocytes	Fogaça et al. (2006)	
	AMPs-unclassified	hebraein	A. hebraeum	hemolymph	Lai et al. (2004)	
		microplusin	B. microplus	hemocytes, ovaria, fatbody	Fogaça et al. (2004)	

In ticks, defensins were characterized from the hemolymph and midgut of *O. moubata* (Nakajima et al., 2001, 2002) and *Dermacentor variabilis* (Johns et al., 2001; Sonenshine et al., 2002) and hemolymph of *Boophilus microplus* (Fogaça et al., 2004) and *Amblyomma hebraeum* (Lai et al., 2004).

Lysozymes

The bacteriolytic function of lysozyme is widely employed in the innate immunity, in both animal and plant kingdoms (Hultmark, 1996). Lysozyme occurs widely in the cells and secretory fluids of vertebrates, where it may function as a bactericidal agent or help to dispose bacteria after they have been killed by other means. The known lysozymes are grouped into several types. Within the animal phyla, three main lysozyme types are recognized: chicken type (c), goose-type (g), and invertebrate type (i). Lysozyme hydrolyses the 1,4- β -glycosidic bound between N-acetylmuramic acid and N-acetylglucosamine in cell wall peptidoglycans of Gram-positive bacteria (Hultmark, 1996). In ticks, the lysozyme was first purified from the midgut of the fed *O. moubata* (Kopáček et al., 1999) and its expression increased after the uptake of a blood meal (Grunclová et al., 2003). The immune-responsive lysozyme was identified from the hemocytes of the hard tick *D. variabilis* and embryonic cell line of *Dermacentor andersoni* (Simser et al., 2004a) and cell line DAE15 of *D. andersoni* (Mattila et al., 2007).

Protease inhibitors

Cystatins and serpins are inhibitors of cysteine proteases and serine proteases, respectively. They can regulate the endogenous and/or exogenous (pathogenic) incidence of proteases. Blood feeding and LPS inoculation significantly increased expression of cystatin, a cysteine protease inhibitor from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* (Zhou et al., 2006). Growth inhibition of *E. coli* and *M. luteus* was embodied by ixodidin, a serine protease inhibitor from the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus* (Fogaça et al., 2006). A broad spectrum protease inhibitor, an α_2 -macroglobulin, was described in the soft tick *O. moubata* (Kopáček et al., 2000; Saravanan et al., 2003)

Unclassified AMPs

The cysteine-rich AMP, called microplusin, was isolated from the hemolymph of *Boophilus microplus*. It has no sequence similarity to any known AMPs, is expressed in hemocytes, ovaries and fat body and prevents the growth of *Micrococcus luteus* (Fogaça et al., 2004). Other antimicrobial protein named as hebraein was purified from the hemolymph of fed *Amblyomma hebraeum* female ticks. This AMP had antimicrobial activity against wide

spectrum pathogens included Gram-positive bacterium *Staphylococcus aureus* and Gramnegative *E. coli* (Lai et al., 2004).

Tick-pathogen interaction

It is known that most tick-borne pathogenic agents are able to pass through the midgut epithelium and enter the hemocoel (Fujisaki et al., 1984; Han et al., 2000; Rudzinska et al., 1982). *E. coli* as an environmental microbe can not pass through the midgut epithelium of *O. moubata* and enter the hemocoel (Matsuo et al., 2004). On the other hand, the Gram-negative bacterium *Chryseobacterium indologenes* was demonstrated to be pathogen of the soft tick *O. moubata*; the concentration of bacteria grew exponentially in the midgut post infective feeding. In addition, examination of orally infected ticks revealed that the amount of bacteria increase abundantly in the hemolymph of *O. moubata*. The pathogenicity of *C. indologenes* to *O. moubata* contrasted to the very effective and fast clearance of this bacterium from the gut of the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus* (Burešová et al., 2006).

Tick-borrelia interaction

The tick gut epithelium barrier passing by *Borrelia burgdorferi* has been intensively studied. *B. burgdorferi* adapts to the transmission between the arthropod vector and mammalian host in part by preferential gene expression (Fig. 5).

Fig. 5: Borrelia burgdorferi belongs into the group of spirochetes causing Lyme disease. B. burgdorferi has evolved remarkable abilities to survive in a wide range of organisms such as arthropods, and vertebrates like birds and mammals. www3.niaid.nih.gov/. ../borrelia_burgdorferi.jpg

The gene coding for an outer surface protein (Osp) A is expressed by *B. burgdorferi* within the tick *I. scapularis* gut (de Silva et al., 1996) and down regulated during transmission to the mammalian host (Ohnishi, et al., 2001; de Silva et al., 1996). OspA is essential for *B. burgdorferi* to persist within the tick. OspA-deficient spirochetes failed to survive within *I.*

scapularis and these spirochetes could not bind to the tick gut (Yang et al., 2004). The tick receptor for OspA (TROSPA) that binds OspA is required for spirochetal colonization of *I. scapularis* (Pal et al., 2004). The time and the location of TROSPA expression accord with the natural cycle of spirochetes. Inside ticks, *B. burgdorferi* express OspA (Schwan et al., 2000; de Silva et al., 1996) and, at the same time, *I. scapularis* expresses TROSPA. In ticks with silenced TROSPA (antiserum or dsRNA), small amount of spirochetes was still able to colonize and persist in ticks and be transmitted to a naive host. This indicates that TROSPA may not be the only ligand utilized by spirochetes in ticks. After start of tick engorgement, TROSPA and OspA expression decreased (Pal et al., 2004). Simultaneously with the disappearance of OspA, expression of outer surface protein C (OspC) begins. These processes correlate with the exit of spirochetes from midgut, dissemination through the hemolymph and passage via the salivary glands of feeding tick to the mammalian host (Schwan et al., 2002).

Relative few studies have examined the distribution of relapsing fever spirochetes in tissues of argasid tick. The study of Burgdorfer (1951) has shown that the process of *B*. *duttoni* transmission varies with the stage of the soft tick *O*. *moubata*. Nymphs transmit *B*. *duttonii* in the saliva; adults transmit *B*. *duttonii* via coxal fluid.

The soft tick *Ornithodoros hermsii* was first identified as a vector of relapsing fever spirochetes in 1935 by Wheeler. *O. hermsii* is capable of transmitting this spirochete *Borrelia hermsii*, in contrast to other species *O. tunicata* and *O. parkeri*, which transmit other species of spirochetes (Davis, 1942). The mechanisms of this species specifity of spirochetes transmission are unknown. The distribution of *B. hermsii* in *O. hermsii* organs was observed and spirochetes were found in midgut, salivary gland and synganglion (Schwan et al., 1998). Vsp33 protein, the *B. hermsii* homolog of OspC, was shown to be expressed by spirochetes colonized salivary glands and was hypothesized as a protein involved in the spirochetes dissemination from the midgut (Marconi et al., 1993). In the fast feeding soft tick, there is no time for spirochetes to disseminate out of the midgut, penetrate the salivary gland and synthesize a new outer surface protein during the feeding. That is why *B. hermsii* upregulates the synthesis of Vsp33 directly after infecting *O. hermsii* and all spirochetes express the protein during persistent infection of the salivary glands. In contrast to OspC of *B. burgdorferi*, Vsp33 does not seem to be needed for dissemination from the midgut to the salivary glands (Schwan et al., 2002).

3. Tick gut immunity

The absence of proteolytic enzymes in the midgut lumen would make this organ a highly favorable environment for survival of ingested microbial pathogens in case there would not be any active defense mechanisms (Munderloh et al., 1995). Any successfully transmitted pathogens have to overcome several barriers within the tick vector, including: (1) physical barriers; (2) epithelial barriers; (3) production of antimicrobial peptides.

In hematophageous insect, peritrophic matrix is the first barrier, which can affect the survival and virulence of ingested pathogens (Elvin et al., 1996). Unlike the hematophageous insect, little known is about the structure or molecular composition of this matrix in ticks. During the initial phases of the blood feeding, a peritrophic matrix was observed in the midgut of *O. moubata* (Grandjean. 1984), *Ixodes dammini* (Rudzinska et al., 1982) and *I. ricinus* (Zhu et al., 1991). Recently, the peritrophic matrix structure of tick female of genus *Ixodes* was reported (Grigor'eva et al., 2004).

In order to avoid bacterial growth and decomposition of the ingested blood by multiplying bacteria, ticks have to posses an efficient protective mechanism within their gut. In the midgut of both, soft and hard ticks, the antimicrobial fragments of host hemoglobin are contributed to the rapid elimination of most invading microorganisms. Antimicrobial bovine hemoglobin fragments were first time reported in the gut lumen of the hard tick *Boophilus microplus* (Fogaça et al., 1999). The functional and structural features of hemoglobin fragments were explained recently. The details of the mode of action are unclear, but the synthetic proteolytic products of bovine hemoglobin (peptide Hb33-61) were shown to be able to disrupt the bacterial membrane of *Micrococcus luteus* (Sforça et al., 2005). Fragments of α - and β -chain rabbit hemoglobin were observed also in the midgut of *Dermacentor variabilis* (Sonenshine et al., 2005) and the soft tick *O. moubata* (Nakajima et al., 2003).

Next to hemoglobin fragments, defensins and lysozyme are the integral part of active immune defense in the midgut of the soft ticks. Expression of the genes encoding four isoforms of *O. moubata* defensins was strongly upregulated by blood meal (Nakajima et al., 2001, 2002). The induction of A and B defensins was observed in the midgut after experimental infection with bacteria (Nakajima et al., 2001). Defensin A was isolated from the gut contents; it indicated that this isoform is secreted by the gut epithelium cells into the gut lumen (Nakajima et al., 2002). Another AMP, lysozyme, was purified from the midgut of the fed *O. moubata* (Kopáček et al., 1999). Tick gut lysozyme seems to be an interesting case

in which the features of lysozymes with antimicrobial and digestive function are combined. Blood meal strongly induced the expression of lysozyme in the midgut (Grunclová et al., 2003).

In the hard ticks, the main tissue of defensins as well as lysozymes expression is the hemolymph. The challenge of midgut with different bacteria did not increase defensin expression in the gut of the hard tick *D. variabilis*, in contrast to hemolymph (Sonenshine et al., 2005). The gene expression profile of defensin from the hard tick *Boophilus microplus* showed that the major sites of expression are hemocytes and the fat body (Fogaça et al., 2004). The immune responsive lysozymes were identified in hemocytes of *D. variabilis* (Johns et al., 1998; Simser et al., 2004a), but the lysozyme transcript was also found in the midgut of *D. variabilis* (Sonenshine et al., 2005). The *D. variabilis* defensin was detected only in the hemolymph of ticks inoculated with *Borrelia burgdorferi* and *Bacillus subtilis*. Although the *D. variabilis* defensin alone was not immediately effective against *B. burgdorferi* (Johns et al., 2001). The cystatin (cysteine protease inhibitor) identified in the midgut and hemolymph of the hard tick *H. longicornis* was reported to have growth inhibitory effect on cultured *Babesia bovis* (Zhou et al., 2006).

Results and discussions

- Tick gut lysozyme from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata (Paper I)
- Identification of genes affected by blood feeding from *O. moubata* gut-specific cDNA library
- Cystatins from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata (Paper II)

Unpublished results:

- Thyropin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata
- Serine protease homolog from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata

I. Tick gut lysozyme from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata

The bacteriolytic function of lysozyme is widely employed in both animal and plant kingdoms. Lysozyme inducible by bacterial challenge is probably the most comprehensively studied defense molecule in the immune system of invertebrates (Jollès, 1996). In some animals, the lysozyme was adapted to digestive purposes like in the stomach of ruminants, where the enzyme digest ingested bacteria providing nitrogen and phosphorus necessary for milk production (Dobson et al., 1984; Irwin, 1996). A similar adaptation of lysozyme to the digestive function has been reported for langur ruminant monkeys (Stewart et al., 1987), leaf-eating bird-hoatzin (Kornegay et al., 1994) and also for lysozymes from the midgut of flies *Drosophila melanogaster* (Hultmark, 1996; Regel et al., 1998) and *Musca domestica* (Lemos et al., 1993; Ito et al., 1995).

Lysozymes in ticks

In eighties, a systematic analysis on tick lysozymes was performed by Russian authors. They tested the lysozymes activity in different tick species comprising *Alveonasus lahorensis*, *Ornithodoros papillipes*, *O. moubata*, *Hyalomma asiaticum* and *Ixodes persulcatus*. They also observed an increasing lytic activity in the whole-body homogenates of *O. moubata* challenged by blood meal infected with variety of bacterial strains (Podboronov et al. 1991).

The first sufficiently characterized tick lysozyme was purified from the gut contents of the adult soft tick *O. moubata* in our laboratory (Kopáček et al., 1999). The enzyme designated as tick gut lysozyme (TGL) was responsible for high lytic activity of gut contents against the bacteria *Micrococcus luteus*. The homogeneous TGL had a mass of 14006 +/- 20 Da as determined by mass spectroscopy. Similarly to the common basic c-type lysozymes, TGL possesses a high isoelectric point ($pI \ge 9.67$). In contrast to it, digestive lysozyme isolated from the midgut of *M. domestica* (Lemos et al., 1993) and *D. melanogaster* (Regel et al., 1998) were reported to have neutral or even acidic isoelectric point. On the other hand, TGL displayed N-terminal amino-acid motif DRCSLA occurring specifically in the digestive lysozymes of several dipteran insects. These rather controversial preliminary data did not make it possible to answer unequivocally a question whether TGL is adapted for digestive function or plays a defense role against ingested bacteria in the tick gut. Thus characterization of the whole primary structure of TGL followed by comprehensive phylogenetic analysis and

study of TGL post blood meal expression was necessary to understand the main role of TGL in the tick digestive tract.

Sequence analysis of tick gut lysozyme

TGL sequence was determined using degenerated primers derived from known N-terminus and highly conserved motifs from C-terminal part of vertebrate and invertebrate lysozymes RACE PCR techniques were used to determine the 5' and 3' untranslated sequences The complete cDNA sequence of TGL, deposited in the GenBank under Accession No. AF425264, was the first lysozyme representing the subphylum Chelicerata (Paper I). Multiple alignment of TGL with selected mature lysozymes revealed that TGL is clearly of the c-type (Paper I; Bachali et al., 2002; Ting et al., 2002).

TGL possesses all of the 8 conserved cysteine residues and two residues (Glu³³ and Asp⁵¹) responsible for the catalytic activity of c-type lysozymes. The most striking difference in the TGL sequence is the presence of histidine (His⁵²), which replaces the highly conserved tyrosine found in the vast majority of c-type lysozymes at this position (Paper I; Fig. 2). The same substitution was found in the gene products agCP6542 from *Anopheles gambiae* strain PEST (GenBank EAA11630) and CG8492-PA from *D. melanogaster* (GenBank AAF50522) containing multiple lysozyme-like sequences. Among tick lysozyme-like sequences available in the meantime from the GenBank, this replacement was found in one EST (GenBank CV457331, clone BEAH196) from *Boophilus microplus* here designated as Bm2 clone. Moreover, Bm2 clone apparently shares other amino-acid residues and motifs similar to TGL indicating that these lysozymes may be related (Fig. 6).

The phylogenetic analysis revealed that the TGL is more related to the family of the *Drosophila* digestive lysozyme, than to other c-type lysozymes which do not have the digestive function (Paper I, Fig. 3). Surprisingly, TGL differs significantly from lysozymes from other (hard) tick species described later as immune-responsive c-type lysozyme identified from the hard *D. variabilis* hemocytes (Dv Lys) and a *D. andersoni* embryonic derived cell line DAE100. These enzymes are more closely related to a number of c-type lysozymes from *A. gambiae* and D. *melanogaster* than to TGL from *O. moubata* (Simser et al., 2004a).

Kinetic of TGL expression

The tick gut lysozyme is markedly up-regulated at the transcriptional level by a blood meal. First, using semi-quantitative RT-PCR analysis, we observed a maximum mRNA level of TGL one day after blood meal and then the mRNA level slowly declined to the basic level within the next 14 days. The detailed post blood-meal kinetics of TGL mRNA expression was also analyzed by Northern blotting. This experiment showed that TGL mRNA level in the guts started to increase quickly 12 h PBM and reached its maximum already at 16 h PBM (Paper I, Fig. 4 and 5). In contrast to this, the lytic activity of lysozyme in the gut contents was rather constant and stable at least for one month PBM (Kopáček et al., 1999).

Figure 6: Multiple alignment of the TGL from *O. moubata* and available lysozyme sequences from ticks and no annotated ESTs of tick origin; percent identity: (∇) indicates position of histidine H52, (\diamond) mark residues (Glu33 and Asp51) responsible for the catalytic activity of c-type lysozymes, (–) point Asp residues involved in Ca²⁺ binding in α -lactalbumins. Om - Gut lysozyme of *O. moubata* (AAL17868); Dv - hemocyte lysozyme of *D. variabilis* (AAO49740); Da - lysozyme from the cell line DAE100 of *D. andersoni* (AAO23571); Is - clone IS_SYNG_15F10_TEx2Seq1of *Ixodes scapularis* (EL515757); Bm1, Bm2 - two cDNA clones BEAAA08, BEAH196 of *B. microplus* (CK174158 and CV457331, respectively).

The expression of immune-responsible lysozyme from hemocytes of the hard tick *D. variabilis* increases 72h post-inoculation with *E. coli* and dropped back 96h after infection (Simser et al., 2004a). *D. variabilis* lysozyme message was not upregulated by the blood meal, mechanical injury or PBS control. Recently, the influence of bacteria on lysozyme expression of the *I. scapularis* cell line IDE12 and the *D. andersoni* cell line DAE15 was reported (Mattila et al., 2007). The expression of lysozymes was upregulated after stimulation with heat killed *E. coli* and *M. luteus*. In contrast to it, tick endosymbiont *Rickettsia peacockii*

did not modify lysozyme expression. These results suggest that tick endosymbionts may avoid recognition by the tick immune system, and infection may not affect humoral immune responses to bacteria (Mattila et al., 2007).

In conclusion, our data indicate that lysozyme from the midgut of *O. moubata* is likely adapted to the digestive function. However, TGL still shares some features with other antibacterial lysozymes that its defense role in the tick gut targeted especially against Grampositive bacteria seems to be quite probable. The fundamental differences in the sequence characteristics, phylogenetic placement and compartmental and temporal regulations between the hard tick and soft tick lysozymes point to different adaptation c-type enzymes in tick. So far, no hard tick have been reported to display lysozyme activity in its gut indicating that different feeding strategy and physiology reflect different need for efficient immune reactions.

Paper I

Grunclová, L., Fouquier, H., Hypša, V., Kopáček, P. (2003).

Lysozyme from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: the sequence, phylogeny and post-feeding regulation.

Dev. Comp. Immunol. 27: 651–660.

Lysozyme from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: the sequence, phylogeny and post-feeding regulation

Lenka Grunclová, Hélène Fouquier, Václav Hypša, Petr Kopáček *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 2003. 27: 651–660.

Sequence of a tick gut lysozyme (TGL) from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata was determined by cloning and sequencing of overlapping polymerase chain reaction (PCR) and RACE PCR products. It is the first lysozyme sequence representing the subphylum Chelicerata. The resulting open reading frame codes for a putative signal peptide of 22 aminoacid residues and a mature protein composed of 124 amino-acids. Calculated mass of the protein is 14037.75 Da and a theoretical isoelectric point is 8.16. The phylogenetic analysis revealed that the TGL belongs to the c-type lysozymes. It forms a distinct monophyletic group together with multiple lysozyme-like sequences found in the gene products agCP6542 from Anopheles gambiae strain PEST and CG8492-PA from Drosophila melanogaster. This group is referred to as an H-branch due to a unique histidine residue at position 52 which replaces the highly conserved tyrosine present in the vast majority of c-type lysozymes. TGL seems to be an interesting case in which the features of lysozymes with anti-bacterial and digestive function are combined. Semiquantitative RT-PCR and Northern blotting analysis demonstrated that TGL is strongly up-regulated at the transcriptional level after a blood meal. The maximum lysozyme mRNA level was detected 16 h post blood meal and the message remained stable for 5 days and then it slowly dropped down to the level of non-fed ticks within 2 weeks.

II. Identification of genes affected by blood feeding from *O*. *moubata* gut-specific cDNA library

The post blood meal up-regulation of defensins (Nakajima et al., 2001; 2002) and lysozyme (Grunclová et al., 2003) in the gut of the soft tick *O. moubata* (see above) led us to search for other genes which may be affected by blood-meal in this species. This idea basically followed a work of Sanders et al., (2003), who observed global changes in the midgut gene expression in the malaria vector *Aedes aegypti*.

As a first step, the gut specific cDNA library was constructed using SMARTTM cDNA Library Construction Kit (Clontech, BD Biosciences) according to the manual provided by the supplier. Briefly, guts of 10 adult *O. moubata* ticks were dissected 24 hours after membrane feeding and 1µg of isolated total RNA was taken for the first-strand cDNA synthesis using PowerScriptTM reverse transcriptase. Two microlitres of resulting reaction was used for cDNA amplification using Advantage 2 PCR kit (Clontech, BD Biosciences). Double stranded cDNA was fractionated on the provided gel filtration columns and only fractions \geq 500 bp were collected and ligated into the λ TripleEx2 vector. Packaging reaction was performed with Gigapack® III Gold Packaging Extract (Stratagene). Clones of unamplified phage cDNA library were multiple converted to a plasmid library in *E. coli* BM25.8 host cells. Individual colonies were picked from LB/ampicilin plates and transferred to 9 x 384-well plates using GeneTAC G3 robot (Genomic Solutions). Bacteria were grown in 100 µl of LB/carbenicilin medium supplemented with 7.5% glycerol overnight at 31° C and stored at -80°. Colonies plates were robotically gridded onto Hybond N⁺ membranes at the density of 3,456 per 12 x 8 cm membrane.

Membrane chips were hybridized with $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ dATP labeled ss cDNAs prepared by reverse transcription (SuperScriptTM, Invitrogen) of 1 µg of total RNA isolated from engorged ticks (24 pbm), then stripped and hybridized again with $[\alpha^{-32}P]$ dATP labeled ss cDNAs prepared from un-fed ticks (at least two month after last blood meal). The images of both membrane chips were carefully examined for spots clearly differing in the signal intensity. This approach also allowed us to avoid the most abundant house-keeping genes (Nelson et al., 1999). A number of 64 clones selected for further sequencing are listed in the Table 3. Thirty one isolated clones contained full coding sequence out of which 12 genes possess a clear signal peptide predicted by the SignalP V1.1 server according to Nielsen et al. (1997).

The search for the genes differentially expressed in the midgut of the soft tick *O. moubata* after blood meal led to the identification of several genes coding for proteins of potentially interesting function (Table 3). This set contained an already described gene coding for defensin isoform A (Nakajima et al., 2002), namely the PK-9. We have further focused on two genes coding for putative inhibitors of cysteine peptidases apparently belonging to the family of cystatins (Om-cystatin1 and Om-cystatin 2) and a putative thyroglobulin domain containing protease inhibitor (thyropin), because of their possible function in regulation of hemoglobin digestion (endogenous proteases control) and/or tick-gut immunity (inhibition of exogenous microbial proteases). The other gene selected for further study was the chymotrypsin-like protein characterized later as a serine protease homolog (SPH). The aim of this work was to contribute by any data to the challenging discovery of the real function of such a molecule in the tick gut. The same motivation was in the case of a gene coding for a protein similar to the mosquito "mucin-like perithrophin" which was concern of the Master thesis of Franta (2005).

Gene Code	Identical to	Gene length	Full Clone	Signal sequence	Blast search/similarity to (Highest score)	Appropriate for GenBank
LG-1			Yes	Yes	serine protease homolog	AY376147
PK-1	PK-2, PK-10	>600 bp	?		??? 3-isopropylmalate dehydratase (31)	
PK-2	PK-1, PK-10	~646bp	Yes	Yes!	??? 3-isopropylmalate dehydratase (31)	AY526113
PK-3	PK-12	611bp	Yes	Yes!	III cystatin (putat. cystatin Ixodes ricinus, 92)	AY521024
PK-4		512bp	Yes	Yes!	??? uknown protein Arab.thaliana (35)	AY524181
PK-5	PK-26	? > 900 bp	Yes?	Yes?	??? Adhesion protein MAA1	?
PK-6		? > 500 bp	?	?	no similarity	
PK-7		562bp	Yes?	No!	Ring box protein, ubuiquitin ligase (180!)	
PK-8		790 bp	Yes	No?	CDP antigen, tetraspanin, RIKEN (93)	AY527385
PK-9		378bp	Yes	Yes	O, moubata DefensinA (1091)	no
PK-10	PK-1, PK-2	>600 bp	No		3-isopropylmalate dehydratase (31) ???	
PK-11		871bp	Yes	Yes	similar to Niemann Pick protein -N-term (108)	AY524182
-12 	PK-3				III overation (minist cystation knodes ricinus, 92)	ves
PK-13		735hn	Ves	Yes?	Miseminal similar to mucin-like peritherabia (40)	AV521026
PK-14	1	636 bp	2	Nol	similar to 3-bydroxyanthranilate 3-dioxyanease. C-terminal half (99)	ves?
IK 14		400 bp	2	no.	O marite of hydroxyanthrandina of the oxygenado, of terminal han (60)	2001
0K-16		409 bp	i NOC		O. Includate inflotional Divis (440)	AVE24492
K-10		146 bp	yes		3' and estimation of the second	A1524165
K-18		>600 bp	Ves	Nol	alversidendes and an and a second secon	Nes
IX-10		>600 bp	yes	No!	gy deralden y der opphale der (ydruger labe (2001)	yes
K-19		272 br	yes	INU:	a constructor mitchedaria (DNA (109)	yes
rt-20		572 bp	Nee			10
N-21		6/1 bp	Tes	Tes! VSA-AS	similar to equistatin (protease inhibitor), thrombin domain	AY521025
K-22		863 DD	Tes	INO!	Proteasome alpha chain, macropain (300!)	AY521027
R-23		405 DP	no	TIU No.		no
'K-24		1139 bp	yes	N0?	conserved nypothetical protein (140), domains - oligoketide cyclase, aromatic rich protein family, lipid metabolism?	yes
K-25		>600 bp	no	no	O/ moubata mitochondnai UNA cytochrome b oxidase	no
K-26	PK-5 (or similar)	? > 900 bp	Yes?	Yes?	CCC Adhesion protein MAA1 (34)	?
'K-27		> 1000 bp	No-partiall	NO	Fasciciclin-like domain, C-terminal similar to hypothetical protein Plasmodium falciparum	?
K-28		> 600 bp	Yes	No	similar to eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3	yes?
PK-29	PK-13	735bp	yes	Yes?	N-terminal similar to mucin-like perithrophin (40)	yes
PK-30		200 bp	no	no	similar to ribosomal protein fragment	no
PK-31		1077 bp	yes	No!	SNF7 - homolog (170!)	AY526884
°K-32		> 600 bp	?	?	no similarity	no
JS-1	PK-5,PK-26, DS-27	>900 bp	Yes?	Yes?	???Adhesin MAA1, juvenile hormone binding	?
S-2		~1200 bp	Yes	No!	(beta) Actin (377!)	AY547732
S-3		587 bp	Yes	No!	60S ribosomal protein L 21(200!)	AY547733
S-4		354 bp	?		O. moubata mitochodrial DNA	no
)S-5		>700 bp	No ~1/2 C-t	No!	selenium binding protein cytoplasmic (200!)	?
S-7		231 bp		no	3' end of something	no
JS-8				no?	similarity to hepatitis B interacting virus (50)	no
/S-10		>700 bp	no 1/2	no	elongation factor 2, C-terminal part	no
S-11		> 600 bp	?	no	no similarity	no
)S-12		> 600 bp	?	?		no
)S-13		>600 bp	Yes?	No!	clathrin adaptor (150)	Ves
)S-14		~700 bp	Yes	no	40S ribosomal protein S5 (361)	AY547734
S-15		>700 bp	Yes	Yes SQG-TS	cvstatin-like BIGI different from PK3.12	AY547735
)S-16		>700 bp	no	no	similar to zinc finger protein and others	no
S-17		> 600 bp	ves?	No	similar to micofibrillar associated protein	no
)S-18		~650 bp	,	Yes?? NSR-OF??	no similarity	ves?
S-19		~600 bp	no	2	O mouhata mitochodrial DNA	100
IS-20		~650 bp	Ves	00	40s dipasonal proteins14 (158)	Ves
S-20		~220 bp	yes	no	3. end 6. mouta NADH dehydogenese 4	ycs
S-21		~700 bp	NOC	NOS2 V/M/C KP	bot shock protein alpha caretalin Babin (60)	NOC
S-22		>700 bp	yes		C moultanta mitocharia DNA	yes
5-23		>700 bp	110	10	O. Included in Intercircument Diver	
3-24	1		ſ	ſ	similar to nearshock, modalese -Sh transletase	
5-25		>700 bp	yes		uoquiun conjugating enzyme (2201)	yes
5-26		?	?		no similarty	no
15-27	PK-5,PK-26, DS-1	> 900 bp	yes	yes?	WAdnesin MAA1, juvenile hormone binding	lyes
DS-28		>700 bp	yes?	?	similar to GP from Drosophila + Anopheles	?
JS-29		>700 bp	?	?	low similarity to amino-acid transporter	?
JS-30		?	?	?	unknown	
JS-31		~5000 bp!	~180 AA fro	no	adenylate cyclase (109!]	
JS-32		> 700 bp	?	?	uknown	?

Table 3: Table ofidentified gut-specificgenes from the softtick Ornithodorosmoubata

Legend:

In red and yellow - the most interesting genes selected for further work LG-1 – Serine protease homolog PK-3 (PK-12) – Om-cystatin1 DS-15 – Om-cystatin2 PK-21 – Om-thyropin PK-13 (PK-29) – mucin-like perithrophin In green: The clones worth to complete sequence In blue: Already known gene – defensin A In white: Genes of low interest In gray: housekeeping or ballast

III. Cystatins from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata

The superfamily of cystatins comprises three major structural families: Type 1 cystatins (also known as stefins) are cytoplasmatic, single domain proteins of about 100 amino-acid residues lacking the disulfide bridges and signal sequence. Cystatins of type 2 are secreted inhibitors of about 120 residues having two disulfide bridges and typical signal peptide. Cystatins of type 3 (called kininogens) are multidomain proteins presenting three repeated domains of cystatins type 2 (Barret et al., 1986; Turk et al., 1991).

Secreted cystatins have been found in various invertebrate organisms. Nematode cystatins were shown to play a crucial role in evasion of the host defense system and in modulation of the immune response via their capability to inhibit the activity of various cysteine proteases (Hartmann et al., 2003). The *Onchocerca volvulus* cystatin was shown to inhibit cysteine proteases cathepsin L and S that are involved in the proteolytic processing of polypeptides (Schonemeyer et al., 2001).

Cysteine peptidase and cysteine peptidase inhibitors of protozoan parasites play crucial role in host invasion, modulation of host immunity, nutrition etc. Malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum* degraded hemoglobin to amino acids for parasite protein synthesis. Degradation of hemoglobin by papain-family cysteine protease, falcipain, can be inhibited by incubation of erythrocytic parasites in the presence of cysteine protease inhibitor (Olson et al., 1999). Experimental inhibition of cysteine protease cruzain of *Trypanozoma cruzi* caused life cycle interruption in the stage of intracellular amastigots (Engel et al., 1998). Cysteine protease from tick-born pathogen *Theileria sergenti* was isolated. It seems to be involved in the process of erythrocytes and tissue invasion (Sako et al., 1999). Similar role plays cysteine protease of other tick-born pathogen *Babesia equi*. Propagation of intraerythrocytic stage of *B. equi* was inhibited in the presence of cysteine peptidase inhibitor in-vitro (Holman et al., 2002). Recombinant cystatin from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* showed a significant grow-inhibitory effect on *B. bovis* cultured in-vitro (Zhou et al., 2006).

Last but not least, cystatins were shown to function as antimicrobial proteins in the hemolymph of the horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus*. L-cystatin, expressed in hemocytes, served as defense molecule against invading Gram-negative microbes, together with other proteins secreted into extracellular fluid (Agarwala et al., 1996b).

These facts imply that cystatins may be the potential regulators of protein turnover and defense against pathogens, the balance of the host-parasite immune relationship as well as regulation of endogenous cysteine peptidases involved in blood digestion in tick.

Although the knowledge of molecules involved in blood digestion in ticks is still rather limited, the main role is apparently played by acidic cysteine and aspartic peptidases (Mendiola et al., 1996, Lara et al., 2005; Boldbaatar et al., 2006). Cloning and sequencing of two cathepsin L genes and the sequence of midgut cathepsin B (GenBank Acc. No. AY208820) from the midgut of hard tick *H. longicornis* have been reported (Mulenga et al., 1999). Cysteine peptidase cathepsin L from the hard tick *Boophilus microplus* was capable of effective hemoglobin hydrolysis and was find to be expressed in exocytosis vesicles of gut secretion cells (Renard et al., 2000, 2002).

Recently, several group published results on cystatins from different tick species in parallel to our work on two cystatins from *Ornithodoros moubata* (Paper II). Cystatin from the *Amblyomma americanum* expressed in the salivary gland and the midgut (Karim et al., 2005); secreted cystatin from *H. longicornis* (Zhou et al., 2006); sialostatin L from *Ixodes scapularis* (Kotsyfakis et al., 2006) and cytosolic BMcystatin from *B. microplus* (Lima et al., 2006). In addition to it, several tick putative cystatin cDNA sequences has become available in the GenBank database (Fig. 7).

Sequence analysis of Om-cystatins

In our laboratory, cystatins from the midgut of *O. moubata* were characterized. Omcystatin 1 and 2 belong to type 2 cystatins; they contain clearly predictable signal peptide, display a conserved pattern of four cysteine residues known to form two internal disulfide bridges, possess three typical segments (P-I, P-II and P-III) that create a wedge-shaped binding site involved in reversible binding in the active site of cysteine peptidases of the papain family (Bode et al., 1988).

Interestingly, the terminal (P-III) hairpin loop motif containing proline and tryptophane is shared only with cystatin from the midgut of the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*, but not with cystatins expressed in the salivary glands of hard ticks *I. scapularis* (Ribeiro et al., 2006) and *A. americanum* (Karim et al., 2005) (Fig. 7). All tick cystatins known to date, lack the domain responsible for inhibition of asparaginyl endopeptidases (legumain-like peptidases) from the C13 family (see AEP in Fig. 7) (Alvarez-Fernandez et al., 1999).

Omou1	1	MIRSAVVITMLVGVCLAQRGFVGGWSQVDEKIREDLELAHFAVASQLAGLEYYHTVLE
Omou2	1	MSSFKVAV-LLIAVYGASQGTSIPGGWTRQDPT-EARFLELAHFATSSQTEGREFYDTVVT
Irici	1	MSIVKAALLVLGVVCLSTAFPGIWRRHHPDVDPRYKEWAHFAISSQVEGRTNYDTIK
Iscal	1	MTSTFALVLI-L-GGMAVCVATGVFGGYSERANHQANBEFENLAHYATSTWSAQQPGKTHFDTVAE
Isca2	1	MTSSLALVLL-F-GGAAVCAELALRGGYRERSNQD-DPEYLELAHYATSIWSAQQPGKTHFDTVVE
Hlong	1	MKQAAIIAFFGIVGVA-FCSHPKRIIGGWTQHDPSSNPKYLELAHFAISQQIKGLDVYHIVIK
Bmic1	1	AMKGAVVLLVVSVTVAECSSKRPGEWMDQDPLSDPKYMKLAHYALIDGEPKKKYYYTVIN
Bmic2	1	GTMASLRITPCGVAVLIVICF-IGVAQSALVGGWHRQSVGDNAMFEELAHFAISRQVGDREYFDTVLE
Bmic3	1	SSDMKGTAVCFLLTAITTHCAASLIGGWTEQNESSDSKYLQLAHFATAQQTTGLTNYHTVLR
Bmic4	1	CPLRSLPRMKAVEMAHCTLASHAL-TTLLSSYANSALVGGWRKQDPHHNAGYLQLAHYVASSQTHGLKNYNTVVR
Bmic5	1	KLSAAMIA KQTCLLLVAGLWTSALLGSGYTGSTMVGGWTEQNPQGSPKYLKLAHYAVSIQTEGETVYNTVVN
Bmic6	1	AVSIALLVTALIAVSLAIPGGWSTKEPSSSPKYKELAHFVVAQRVEGLQKYDTVLK
Acaje	1	TVISAHNQVMASSLMLVTV-L-LGAFLCCRAQLGGVPGGWHKKPVAGNEELLELAHFAVSRQVEGKEFFDTVLE
Cysthor	1	MEGYNILAVLIILVGVSMGQLPGGWIDANVG-DTDVKEAARFATEAQS-SRSNSLYHHKLK

PII

PIII

Omou1	128	N-	
Omou2	128	E-	62.3%
Irici	127	GEPVNNS	47.6%
Iscal	131	EAA	47.3%
Isca2	130	AAA	47.9%
Hlong	130	PR	57.6%
Bmic1	129	HS	52.9%
Bmic2	136	EGSSTST	49.2%
Bmic3	131	НК	58.1%
Bmic4	155	QLHQLGSVHNGTIY	34.6%
Bmic5	141	SGATS	51.8%
Bmic6	125	A-	55.5%
Acaje	124	TVP	49.2%
Cysthor	130	QNKG	40.8%

Figure 7: Multiple alignment of Om-cystatin 1 and 2 from *O. moubata* and available cystatin sequences from tick and no annotated ESTs of tick origin; percent identity to Om-cystatin 1: PI–PIII, papain-binding domains; AEP, asparaginyl endopeptidase (legumain)-binding domain position ($\blacktriangle \blacklozenge = AEP$ in horseshoe crab cystatin). Omou1 and Omou2 – Om-cystatins from the gut of *Ornithodoros moubata* (AAS01021; AAS55948); Irici – gut cystatin from *Ixodes ricinus* (CAD68002); Isca1 and Isca2 – secreted cystatins from *Ixodes scapularis* (AAM93646; AAY66685); Hlong – secreted cystatin from *Haemaphysalis longicornis* (ABC94582); Bmic1-6 cDNA clones BEAAN91, BEAA778, BEAF056, BEAFZ42, BEABG74, BEAB489 from *Boophilus microplus* (GenBank CK176418, CK173752, CV444905, CV450827, CK181298, CK179250 respectively); Acaje – cDNA clone ACAH15A10 from *Amblyomma cajennense* tick library; cysthor – L-cystatin from the horseshoe crab *Tachypleus tridentatus* (Agarwala et al., 1996)

Tissue expression profile of Om-cystatins

The presence of mRNA Om-cystatin 1 is specific for the tick gut, expression of Omcystatin 2 was found also in other tissues tested: salivary glands, ovaries and Malphigian tubules (Paper II, Fig. 2). A strong band corresponding to authentic Om-cystatin 2 was detected in the gut contents of unfed ticks using Western blot analysis (Paper II, Fig. 3). These localizations were confirmed using indirect immunolocalization on semi-thin sections. Om-cystatin 2 was secreted into the gut lumen of partially digested ticks and was significantly associated with the residual bodies. The presence of authentic Om-cystatins in hemosomes and residual bodies which are accumulated in the gut lumen was confirmed using electron microscopy on ultra-thin sections labeled by anti-Om-cystatin imunogold particles (Paper II, Fig. 5). Residual bodies are raised from none crystalline heme aggregate and contain yet unidentified proteins (Lara et al., 2003). The presence of Om-cystatins in the hemosomes and further in the residual bodies which accumulate in the gut lumen implies also their role in heme detoxification (Paper II).

Om-cystatin 2 was also clearly detected in salivary gland extracts of unfed ticks, whereas this amount decreased considerably 1 day after blood meal (abm) (Grunclová et al., 2006, Fig. 3). Based on localization by indirect immunofluorescence, Om-cystatin 2 was found to be expressed in salivary glands and synthesized specifically by the type 2 secretory cells (Balashov, 1979) of unfed ticks. Its expression was significantly suppressed in salivary glands of ticks 1 day after blood meal (Paper II, Fig. 4).

Inhibitory activity of cystatins

Tick cystatins are not capable to inhibit legumain-like activity therefore they are discriminated from their interference with MHC II antigen presentation dependent on asparaginyl-endopeptidase processing (Manoury et al., 1998). Cystatin 2 inhibited model mammalian exopeptidase cathepsin C (a dipeptidyl peptidase I) (Paper II), which is present in the greatest amount in cytotoxic T-lymphocytes, macrophages and mast cells. Cathepsin C is required for full activation of neutrophil-derived serine peptidases (cathepsin G, neutrophil elastase, proteinase 3) which are involved in inflammation processes (Brown et al., 1993; Wolters et al., 1998). Regulation of neutrophil elastase is important for the primary host defense against bacterial infection. These facts support the idea, that Om-cystatin 2 can modulate the host immune response. Our preliminary results suggest the ability of Om-cystatin 2 to modulate cytokine response of murine leucocytes (Salát, personal communication). The saliva from the hard tick *I. scapularis* display anti-cathepsin L activity

due to the presence of cystatin called sialostatin L. The authors further demonstrated that the recombinant sialostatin L inhibited papain-like proteases, targeting mainly cathepsin L and C. Sialostatin L had an anti-inflammatory activity and inhibited proliferation of cytotoxic lymphocytes (Kotsyfakis et al., 2006).

Silencing of cystatin expression in the salivary glands of *A. americanum* by ds RNAi significantly reduced the ability of ticks to feed successfully on rabbits (Karim et al. 2005). Moreover, rabbits previously exposed to cystatin silenced ticks exhibited resistance to repeated tick feeding. Salivary glands cystatin thus seem to help ticks to evade host immune and inflammatory response during blood feeding.

Differences in cystatin expression in hard and soft ticks

The hard ticks and the soft tick differ in timing of cystatin protein expression which is likely related to different feeding strategy. A secreted cystatin from the tick *H. longicornis* was mostly expressed in the tick midgut and hemocyte throughout the developmental stages and its distribution showed significant tissue specifity (Zhou et al., 2006). The relative amount of cystatin mRNA of *H. longicornis* increases during the feeding and culminates 4th day of feeding (Zhou et al., 2006). In contrast to the hard tick, *O. moubata* feeds for a 20 - 30 minutes period. Hence, if there is Om-cystatin 2 somehow involved to mediate host immune response it should be stored and instantly ready for the feeding. This is in accord to our data showing that mRNA level of Om-cystatin 2 is lowered after blood meal and the amount of Om-cystatin 2 markedly decreased in salivary gland secretory cells (Grunclová et al., 2006, Fig. 4). *B. microplus* cystatin did not have a signal peptide, which indicates its intracellular localization. Protein was only recognized in ovary, salivary glands and fat body (Lima et al., 2006).

Antimicrobial activities

In contrast to Zhou et al. (2006) demonstrating an immune function of cystatin from *H. longicornis* and the proven antibacterial activity of cystatin from the horseshoe crab (Argawala et al., 1996b), we were not able to confirm any antimicrobial activity of Omcystatins in grow-inhibition assays.

In conclusion, we have reported two members of the cystatin family in the soft tick *O. moubata*, and presented detailed functional and expression analyses. Our work suggests that the tick cystatin inhibitors most likely play several distinct roles and are regulated in time and space. The potential inhibition targets comprise both endogenous and exogenous proteases. Rather than regulation of intracellular digestion, the cystatins in the gut contents are most likely targeted to eliminate the undesired action of cysteine peptidases released into the lumen from detached digestive cells. The presence of cystatin in salivary glands suggests the immunomodulatory role in tick-host interaction.

Paper II

Grunclová, L., Horn, M., Vancová, M., Sojka, D., Franta, Z., Mareš, M., Kopáček, P. (2006).

Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity.

Biol. Chem. 387: 1635–1644.

Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity

Lenka Grunclová, Martin Horn, Marie Vancová, Daniel Sojka, Zdeněk Franta, Michael Mareš, Petr Kopáček

Biol. Chem. 2006. 387: 1635–1644.

Two genes coding for cysteine peptidase inhibitors of the cystatin family (Om-cystatin 1 and 2) were isolated from a gut-specific cDNA library of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Both cystatins were clearly down-regulated after a blood meal. Om-cystatin 1 is mainly expressed in the tick gut, while Om-cystatin 2 mRNA was also found in other tick tissues. Authentic Om-cystatin 2 was significantly more abundant than Om-cystatin 1 in the gut contents of fasting ticks and was associated with hemosome-derived residual bodies accumulated in the gut lumen. Om-cystatin 2 was also expressed by type 2 secretory cells in the salivary glands of unfed ticks. The inhibitory specificity of recombinant Om-cystatins 1 and 2 was tested with mammalian cysteine peptidases, as well as endogenous cysteine peptidases present in the tick gut. Both cystatins efficiently inhibited papain-like peptidases, including cathepsin B and H, but differed significantly in their affinity towards cathepsin C and failed to block asparaginyl endopeptidase. Our results suggest that the secreted cystatin isoinhibitors are involved in the regulation of multiple proteolytic targets in the tick digestive system and tick-host interaction.

IV. Thyropin from the soft tick Ornithodoros moubata

Abstract

The gene coding for putative cysteine peptidase inhibitors containing thyroglobulin type-I domain (Om-thyropin) was isolated from a gut-specific cDNA library of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. RT-PCR showed Om-thyropin mRNA message in several tick tissues like gut, salivary glands, ovaria and Malphigian tubes. Om-thyropin was down regulated after blood meal. Immunolocalization using antibodies against recombinant protein revealed that Om-thyropin is evenly distributed in the gut contents of fasting ticks. The preliminary data suggest that recombinant Om-thyropin protein is able to inhibit papain-like peptidases as cathepsin L, the typical target protease of inhibitors of thyropin type.

Introduction

Thyroglobulin type-I domain inhibitors belong to the clan IX, family I31 according to the MEROPS database classification. The cysteine protease inhibitory function of thyroglobulin domains was established when a fragment of the class II invariant chain was isolated from human kidney bound to the cathepsin L, a papain family cysteine protease (Ogrinč et al., 1993). This fragment is normally part of the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). The p41 form has a region with the significant homology with the thyropin domain of thyroglobulin. Crystallography of this p41 domain in complex with cathepsin L revealed that the domain assumes a wedge-shape conformation containing three loops stabilized by three disulfide bridges and it is lodged in the active site of cathepsin L. Thus the inhibition mechanism resembles that of other cysteine proteinase inhibitors, namely the cystatin/stefin family. They are both wedge-shaped structures, which fill the active site cleft with three short binding segments; three hairpin loops of the p41 fragment versus the N-terminal and two hairpin loops of stefins (Gunčar et al., 1999). Additionally the p41 fragment can discriminate between two closely related enzymes, cathepsin L and cathepsin S, inhibiting only the former (Bevec et al., 1996).

In the last decade, several proteins containing thyroglobulin domain-type I (Tg-I) were identified in variety of species. Saxiphilin, a bullfrog serum protein that binds neurotoxin (Lenarčič et al., 2000), equistatin from a sea anemone (Lenarčič et al., 1997), human testican (Bocock et al., 2003), oocytes protease inhibitors (OPI-1 and -2) from rainbow trout (Wood et al., 2004) also have one or more thyropin domains. Except OPIs, these proteins inhibited

cathepsin L proteolytic activity. Only one of the two Tg-I domains present in saxiphilin inhibits cathepsins L or B (Lenarčič et al., 2000). Similarly, the first of three equistatin domains exhibited broad specificity against papain-like cysteine peptidases, while the subsequent two are non-inhibitory (Lenarčič et al., 1999; Galeša et al., 2003). Furthermore, the second Tg-1 domain of equistatin is unique in inhibiting also the aspartic peptidase cathepsin D (Galeša et al., 2003).

Cathepsin L is a ubiquitously expressed protease efficiently secreted into the lysosomes, where low pH allows for optimal activity to mediate proteolysis (Kornfeld et al., 1989). In addition to it, it participated in developmental processes and antigen processing (Turk et al., 2000). In ticks three cathepsins L have been described. The recombinant enzyme from *Boophilus microplus* was capable of hydrolyzing gelatin, tick vitellin and bovine hemoglobin. This cathepsin L was immunolocalized in probable secretory cells of the gut (Renard et al., 2000, 2002) and was likely involved in hemoglobin digestion process. Two forms of cathepsin L-like cysteine proteinase genes from the hard tick *H. longicornis* were characterized. Both proteases displayed homology with invertebrate cathepsin L-like cysteine proteinase genes and conserved motifs of cysteine proteases were identified in both (Mulenga et al., 1999).

To our knowledge Om-thyropin is the first protein containing thyroglobulin type-I domain in ticks. It has been cloned, sequenced and partially characterized.

V. Serine protease homolog from the soft tick *Ornithodoros* moubata

Abstract

The gene coding for a serine protease homolog (SPH) was isolated from a gut-specific cDNA library of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. SPH falls into the S1A non-peptidase family (chymotrypsin subfamily) comprising secreted endopeptidase homologs with substituted amino acids in the catalytic triad. Moreover, SPH contains an (HD)-rich domain of unknown function. Using RT-PCR, mRNA message of SPH was present strictly in the tick gut. Authentic SPH protein was detected by Western blot analysis in the gut tissue homogenate and secreted into the gut contents. Although function of SPH remains unknown, we speculate that it may play a role as an antimicrobial peptide or be involved in processing of blood-meal by interference with clotting serine protease of the host origin.

Introduction

Extracellular serine proteinases mediate rapid local reactions to physiological or pathological impulses in vertebrates and invertebrates. In mammals, these enzymes are involved in cascade reactions like complement activation or blood clotting. In arthropods similar proteinase systems function in response to injury and infection (for review see Iwanaga et al., 2006)

Based on the structure and sequence similarity, serine proteinases are divided into several clans counting from A to G (Barrett and Rawlings, 1995). Representatives of serine proteinase gene families have been cloned and characterized from variety of invertebrate species. Generally, beside their crucial role in immunity response (Dimopoulos et al., 2001), serine proteases perform a rapid blood meal digestion in some haematophageous arthropods like mosquitoes or tsetse flies.

Several serine proteases have been described also in ticks. The first tick serine proteases cDNA named as HLSG-1 and -2 were cloned and sequenced from the ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* (Mulenga et al., 2001). Both enzymes displayed a conservation of the consensus serine protease catalytic triad, namely His, Asp and Ser. HLSG-1 is highly similar to the coagulation factor C precursor from the coagulation cascade of the horseshoe crab (Agarwala et al., 1996a). HLSG-2 is predominantly related to chymotrypsinogen-like precursor enzymes. Both serine proteases are expressed in gut and salivary glands and their expression increases in partially fed ticks (Mulenga et al., 2001). The same authors described

three serine proteases from the hard tick *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus* (RAMSP-1 to -3). The mRNAs for RAMSP-1 and -2 were expressed in both midgut and salivary glands of partially fed ticks, while RAMSP-3 mRNA was gradually upregulated as tick feeding progressed in midgut (Mulenga et al., 2003). In the hard tick *H. longicornis*, a cubilitin-related serine protease (HISP) was described in all developmental stages and its expression was upregulated during a blood feeding process (Miyoshi et al. 2004a). The RNAi silencing of HISP inhibited the growth of treated ticks compared to control ticks (Miyoshi et al. 2004b). Recently, it was shown that HISP plays a crucial role in the hemolysis of the erythrocytes from the ingested blood. Thus HISP seems to be the enzyme initiating the whole complex process of blood digestion in the tick gut (Miyoshi et al., 2007).

In serine protease homologs, one, two or three amino-acid residues of the conserved catalytic triad are replaced. Although it is almost nothing known about their function, a serine protease homolog expressed in hemocytes, ovaries and salivary glands of the tick *Dermacentor variabilis* was reported to play a role in a response to bacterial infection (Simser et al. 2004b). In this work, we report a characterization a gut-specific serine protease homolog from the soft tick *O. moubata* and show some preliminary data for assessment its function.

3. Summary of results

- Tick gut lysozyme from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* was the first lysozyme representing the subphylum Chelicerata. The phylogenetic analysis revealed that the TGL belongs to the c-type lysozymes having a rare histidine residue at position 52 which replaces the highly conserved tyrosine (H-branch group). Semiquantitative RT-PCR and Northern blotting analysis demonstrated that TGL is strongly up-regulated at the transcriptional level after a blood meal. TGL seems to be an interesting case in which the features of lysozymes with anti-bacterial and digestive function are combined.
- The search for the genes differentially expressed in the midgut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* after blood meal led to the identification of several genes coding for proteins which may be affected by blood-meal in this species. This set contained i. a. two genes coding for putative inhibitors of cysteine peptidases of cystatins family (Om-cystatin1 and Om-cystatin 2), putative thyroglobulin domain containing protease inhibitor (thyropin) and chymotrypsin-like protein characterized later as a serine protease homolog (SPH).
- Both cystatins (Om-cystatin 1 and 2) were clearly down-regulated after a blood meal. Om-cystatin 1 is mainly expressed in the tick gut, while Om-cystatin 2 mRNA was also found in other tick tissues. Authentic Om-cystatin 2 was associated with hemosome-derived residual bodies accumulated in the gut lumen. Om-cystatin 2 was also expressed by type 2 secretory cells in the salivary glands of unfed ticks. Both cystatins efficiently inhibited papain-like peptidases, including cathepsin B and H, but differed significantly in their affinity towards cathepsin C and failed to block asparaginyl endopeptidase.

- The gene coding for a putative cysteine peptidase inhibitor containing thyroglobulin I domain (Om-thyropin) was characterized. RT-PCR showed Om-thyropin mRNA message in several tick tissues like gut, salivary glands, ovaria and Malphigian tubes. Om-thyropin was down-regulated after a blood meal. Immunolocalization revealed that Om-thyropin is evenly distributed in the gut contents of fasting ticks. The preliminary data suggest that recombinant Om-thyropin protein is able to inhibit papain-like peptidases as cathepsin L, the typical target protease of inhibitors containing thyroglobulin domain.
- Serine protease homolog (SPH) from *O. moubata* falls into S1A non-peptidase family (chymotrypsin subfamily) comprising secreted endopeptidase homologs with substituted amino acids in catalytic triad. Moreover SPH contains (HD)-rich domain of unknown function. The mRNA message of SPH was observed to be present strictly in tick gut. Authentic SPH protein was detected by Western blot analysis in gut tissue homogenate and secreted into gut contents. Although its function remains unknown, we speculate the role of SPH in immunity or/and blood meal processing in gut lumen of the soft tick *O. moubata*.

4. References

Agarwala, K.L., Kawabata, S., Miura, Y., Kuroki, Y., Iwanaga, S. (1996a). Limulus intracellular coagulation inhibitor type 3. Purification, characterization, cDNA cloning, and tissue localization. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 23768-74.

Agarwala, K.L., Kawabata, S., Hirata, M., Miyagi, M., Tsunasawa, S., Iwanaga, S. (1996b). A cysteine protease inhibitor stored in the large granules of horseshoe crab hemocytes: purification, characterization, cDNA cloning and tissue localization. J. Biochem. (Tokyo). 119: 85-94.

Alvarez-Fernandez, M., Barrett, A.J., Gerhartz, B., Dando, P.M., Ni, J., Abrahamson, M. (1999). Inhibition of mammalian legumain by some cystatins is due to a novel second reactive site. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 19195-19203.

Bachali, S., Jager, M., Hassanin, A., Schoentgen, F., Jollès, P., Fiala-Medioni, A., Deutsch, J.S. (2002). Phylogenetic analysis of invertebrate lysozymes and the evolution of lysozyme function. J. Mol. Evol. 54: 652–664.

Balashov, I.S. (1979). An Atlas of Electron Microscopical Anatomy of Ixodid Ticks (Leningrad, Russia: USSR Academy of Sciences/Nauka Publishers).

Balashov, Y.S. (1972). Blood-sucking ticks-vectors of disease of a man and animal. Misc. Publ. Entomol. Soc. Amer. 8: 163-376.

Barrett, A.J., Rawlings, N.D., Davies, M.E., Machleidt, W., Salvesen, G., Turk, V. (1986). Cysteine proteinase inhibitors of the cystatin superfamily. In: Proteinase inhibitors. A.J. Barrett and G. Salvesen, editors. (Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier), pp. 515-569.

Barrett, A.J., Rawlings, N.D. (1994). Families of serine peptidases. Methods Enzymol. 244: 19-61.

Beerntsen, B.T., James, A.A., Christensen, B.M. (2000). Genetics of mosquito vector competence. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 64: 115-137.

Bevec, T., Stoka, V., Pungerčič, G., Dolenc, I., Turk, V. (1996). Major histocompatibility complex class II-associated p41 invariant chain fragment is a strong inhibitor of lysosomal cathepsin L. J. Exp. Med. 183: 1331–1338.

Bocock, J.P., Edgell, C.-J.S., Marr, H.S., Erickson, A.H. (2003). Human proteoglycan testican-1 inhibits the lysosomal cysteine protease cathepsin L. Eur. J. Biochem. 270: 4008-4015.

Bode, W., Engh, R., Musil, D., Thiele, U., Huber, R., Karshikov, A., Brzin, J., Kos, J., Turk, V. (1988). The 2.0 A° X-ray crystal structure of chicken egg white cystatin and its possible mode of interaction with cysteine proteinases. EMBO J. 7: 2593–2599.

Boldbaatar, D., Sikalizyo Sikasunge, C., Battsetseg, B., Xuan, X., Fujisaki, K. (2006). Molecular cloning and functional characterization of an aspartic protease from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36: 25-36. Brown, G.R., McGuire, M.J., Thiele, D.L. (1993). Dipeptidyl peptidase I is enriched in granules of in vitro- and in vivo-activated cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. 150: 4733-4742.

Bulet, P., Dimarcq, J.L., Hetru, C., Lagueux, M., Charles, M., Hegy, G., Van Dorsselaer, A., Hoffmann, J.A. (1993). A novel inducible antibacterial peptide of *Drosophila* carries an O-glycosylated substitution. J. Biol. Chem. 268: 14893-14897.

Bulet, P., Stöcklin, R., Menin, L. (2004). Anti-microbial peptides: from invertebrates to vertebrates. Immunol. Rew. 198: 169-184.

Burešová, V., Franta, Z., Kopáček, P. (2006). A comparison of Chryseobacterium indologenes pathogenicity to the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* and hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. J. Invertebr. Pathol. 93: 96-104.

Burgdorfer, W. (1951). Analyse des Infectionsverlaufes bei *Ornithodoros moubata* (Murray) und der naturlichen Uebertragung von *Spirochaeta duttoni*. Acta Trop. 8: 194-262.

Burgdorfer, W., Varma, M.G.R. (1968). Transstadial and transovarial development of diseases against in arthropods. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 12: 347-376.

Ceraul, S.M., Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. (2002). Resistance of the tick *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae) following challenge with the bacterium *Escherichia coli* (Enterobacteriales: Enterobacteriaceae). J. Med. Entomol. 39: 376-383.

Coons, L.B., Rosell-Davis, R., Tarnowski, B.I. (1986). Bloodmeal digestion in ticks. In: Sauer, J.R., Hair, J.A., Editors, Morphology, Physiology and Behavioral Biology of ticks, Ellis Horwood, Chichester.

Dainichi, T., Maekawa, Y., Ishii, K., Zhang, T., Nashed, B.F., Sakai, T., Takashima, M., Himeno, K. (2001). Nippocystatin, a cysteine protease inhibitor from *Nippostongylus brasiliensis*, inhibits antigen peocessing and modulace antigen specific immune response. Infect. Immun. 69: 7380-7386.

Davis, G.E. (1942). Species unity of plurality of relapsing fever spirochetes. In: Molton, F.R., Editor, A symposium on relapsing fever in the Americas. Washington: American Association for the advancement of science, p. 41-47.

Derrick, E.H. (1939). Rickettsia burneti: The cause of Q fever. Med. J. Aust. 1-14.

Dimopoulos, G., Muller, H.M., Levashina, E.A., Kafatos, F.C. (2001). Innate immune defence against malaria infection in the mosquito. Curr. Op. Immunol. 13: 79-88.

Dobson, D.E., Prager, E.M., Wilson, A.C. (1984). Stomach lysozymes of ruminants. J. Biol. Chem. 259: 11607–11616.

Elvin, C.M., Vuocolo, T., Pearson, R.D., East, I.J., Riding, G.A., Eisemann, C.H., Tellam, R.L. (1996). Characterization of a major peritrophic membrane protein, peritrophin-44, from

the larvae of *Lucilia cuprina*. cDNA and deduced amino acid sequences. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 8925-8935.

Engel, J.C., Doyle, P.S., Hsieh, I., McKerrow, J.H. (1998). Cysteine protease inhibitors cure an experimental *Trypanosoma cruzi* infection. J. Exp. Med. 17: 725-34.

Fogaça, A.C., Almeida, I.C., Eberlin, M.N., Tanaka, A.S., Bulet, P., Daffre, S. (2006). Ixodidin, a novel antimicrobial peptide from the hemocytes of the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus* with inhibitory activity against serine proteinases. Peptides 27: 667-674.

Fogaça, A.C., Lorenzini, D.M., Kaku, L.M., Esteves, E., Bulet, P., Daffre, S. (2004). Cysteine-rich antimicrobial peptides of the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus*: isolation, structural characterisation and tissue expression profile. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 28: 191-200.

Fogaça, A.C., da Silva, P.I. Jr., Miranda, M.T., Bianchi, A.G., Miranda, A., Ribolla, P.E., Daffre, S. (1999). Antimicrobial activity of a bovine hemoglobin fragment in the tick *Boophilus microplus*. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 25330-25334.

Fujisaki, K., Kamio, T., Kitaoka, S. (1984). Passage of host serum components, including antibodies specific for *Theileria sergenti*, across the digestive tract of argasid and ixodid ticks. Ann. Trop. Med. Parasitol. 78: 449-450.

Furman, D.P., Loomis, E.C. (1984). The ticks of California (Acari:Ixodida). Bul. California Insect Survey 25.

Galeša, K., Pain, R., Jongsma, M.A., Turk, V., Lenarčič, B. (2003). Structural characterization of thyroglobulin type-1 domains of equistatin. FEBS Lett. 539: 120–124.

Gillespie, J.P., Kanost, M.R., Trenczek, T. (1997). Biological mediators of insect immunity. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 42: 611-643.

Grandjean, O. (1984). Blood digestion in *Ornithodoros moubata* Murry sensu stricto Walton (Ixodidea: Argasidae) female. I. Biochemical changes in the midgut lumen and ultrastructure of the midgut cell, related to intracellular digestion. Acarologia 25: 147–165.

Grigor'eva, L.A., Amosova, L.I. (2004). Peritrophic matrix in the midgut of tick females of the genus Ixodes (Acari: Ixodidae). Parazitologiia. 38: 3-11. Russian.

Grunclová, L., Fouquier, H., Hypša, V., Kopáček, P. (2003). Lysozyme from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: the sequence, phylogeny and post-feeding regulation. Dev. Comp. Immunol. 27: 651–660.

Grunclová, L., Horn, M., Vancová, M., Sojka, D., Franta, Z., Mareš, M., Kopáček, P. (2006). Two secreted cystatins of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*: differential expression pattern and inhibitory specificity. Biol. Chem. 387: 1635–1644.

Gunčar, G., Pungerčič, G., Klemenčič, I., Turk, V., Turk, D. (1999). Crystal structure of MHC class II-associated p41, Ii fragment bound to cathepsin L reveals the structural basis for differentiation between cathepsins L and S. EMBO J. 18: 793–803.

Han, Y.S., Thompson, J., Kafatos, F.C., Barillas-Mury, C. (2000). Molecular interactions between *Anopheles stephensi* midgut cells and *Plasmodium berghei*: the time bomb theory of ookinete invasion of mosquitoes. EMBO J. 19: 6030-6040.

Hartmann, S., Lucius, R. (2003). Modulation of host immune responses by nematode cystatins. Int. J. Parasitol. 33: 1291–1302.

Hess, W.R. (1971). African Swine Fever Virus. Monogr. 9: 1-33.

Holman, P.J., Hsieh, M.M., Nix, J.L., Bendele, K.G., Wagner, G.G., Ball, J.M. (2002). A cathepsin L-like cysteine protease is conserved among *Babesia equi* isolates. Mol. Biochem. Parasitol. 119: 295-300.

Huang, X., Tsuji, N., Miyoshi, T., Nakamura-Tsuruta, S., Hirabayashi, J., Fujisaki, K. (2007). Molecular characterization and oligosaccharide-binding properties of galectin from the argasid tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Glycobiol. 17: 313-323.

Hultmark, D. (1996). Insect lysozymes. In: Jollès P, editor. Lysozymes: model enzymes in biochemistry and biology. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhäuser; p. 87–102.

Inoue, N., Hanada, K., Tsuji, N., Igarashi, I., Nagasawa, H., Mikami, T., Fujisaki, K. (2001). Characterization of phagocytic hemocytes in *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Ixodidae). J. Med. Entomol. 38: 514-519.

Irwin, D.M. (1996). Molecular evolution of ruminant lysozymes. In: Jollès P, editor. Lysozymes: model enzymes in biochemistry and biology. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhäuser; p. 347–361.

Ito, Y., Nakamura, M., Hotani, T., Imoto, T. (1995). Insect lysozyme from house fly (*Musca domestica*) larvae: possible digestive function based on sequence and enzymatic properties. J. Biochem. (Tokyo) 118: 546–551.

Johns, R., Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. (1998). Control of bacterial infections in the hard tick *Dermacentor variabilis* (Acari: Ixodidae): evidence for the existence of antimicrobial proteins in tick hemolymph. J. Med. Entomol. 35: 458-464.

Johns, R., Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. (2000). Response of the tick *Dermacentor* variabilis (Acari: Ixodidae) to hemocoelic inoculation of *Borrelia burgdorferi* (*Spirochetales*). J. Med. Entomol. 37: 265-270.

Johns, R., Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L. (2001). Identification of a defensin from the hemolymph of the American dog tick, *Dermacentor variabilis*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 31: 857-865.

Jollès, P., editor (1996). Lysozymes: model enzymes in biochemistry and biology. Basel, Switzerland: Birkhäuser.

Karim, S., Miller, N.J., Valenzuela, J., Sauer, J.R., Mather, T. N. (2005). RNAi-mediated gene silencing to assess the role of synaptobrevin and cystatin in tick blood feeding. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 334: 1336-1342.

Kopáček, P., Vogt, R., Jindrák, L., Weise, C., Šafařík, I. (1999). Purification and characterization of the lysozyme from the gut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 29: 989-997.

Kopáček, P., Weise, C., Saravanan, T., Vítová, K., Grubhoffer, L. (2000). Characterization of an α_2 -macroglobulin-like glycoprotein isolated from plasma of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Eur. J. Biochem. 267: 465-475.

Kopáček, P., Ždychová, J., Yoshiga, T., Weise, C., Rudenko, N., Law, J. H. (2003). Molecular cloning, expression and isolation of ferritins from two tick species *Ornithodoros moubata* and *Ixodes ricinus*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 33: 103-113.

Kornegay, J.R., Schilling, J.W., Wilson, A.C. (1994). Molecular adaptation of a leaf-eating bird: stomach lysozyme of the hoatzin. Mol. Biol. Evol. 11: 921–928.

Kornfeld, S., Mellman, I. (1989). The biogenesis of lysosomes. Annu. Rev. Cell Biol. 5: 483–525.

Kotsyfakis, M., Sá-Nunes, A., Francischetti, I.M.B., Mather, T.N., Andersen, J.F., Ribeiro, J.M.C. (2006). Antiinflammatory and immunosuppressive activity of sialostatin L, a salivary cystatin from the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. J. Biol. Chem. 281: 26298-26307.

Kovář, V., Kopáček, P., Grubhoffer, L. (2000). Isolation and characterization of Dorin M, a lectin from plasma of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 30: 195-205.

Lai, R., Takeuchi, H., Lomas, L.O., Jonczy, J., Rigden, D.J., Rees, H.H., Turner, P.C. (2004). A new type of antimicrobial protein with multiple histidines from the hard tick, *Amblyomma hebraeum*. FASEB J. 18: 1447-9.

Lara, F.A., Lins, U., Paiva-Silva, G., Almeida, I.C., Braga, C.M., Miguens, F.C., Oliveira, P.L., Dansa-Petretski, M. (2003). A new intracellular pathway of haem detoxification in the midgut of the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus*: aggregation inside a specialized organelle, the hemosome. J. Exp. Biol. 206: 1707-1715.

Lara, F.A., Lins, U., Bechara, G.H., Oliveira, P.L. (2005). Tracing heme in a living cell: hemoglobin degradation and heme traffic in digest cells of the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus*. J. Exp. Biol. 208: 3093-3101.

Lemos, F.J.A, Ribeiro, A.F., Terra, W.A. (1993). A bacteria-digesting midgut-lysozyme from *Musca domestica* (Diptera) larvae purification, properties and secretory mechanism. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 23: 533–541.

Lenarčič, B., Ritonja, A., Štrukelj, B., Turk, B., Turk, V. (1997). Equistatin, a new inhibitor of cysteine proteinases from *Actinia equina*, is structurally related to thyroglobulin type-1 domain. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 13899–13903.

Lenarčič, B., Turk, V. (1999). Thyroglobulin type-1 domains in equistatin inhibit both papain-like cysteine proteinases and cathepsin D. J. Biol. Chem. 274: 563–566.

Lenarčič, B., Krishnan, G., Borukhovich, R., Ruck, B., Turk, V., Moczydlowski, E. (2000). Saxiphilin, a saxitoxin-binding protein with two thyroglobulin type 1 domains, is an inhibitor of papain like cysteine proteinases. J. Biol. Chem. 275: 15572–15577.

Lima, C.A., Sasaki, S.D., Tanaka, A.S. (2006). Bmcystatin, a cysteine proteinase inhibitor characterized for the first time from the tick *Boophilus microplus*. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 347: 44-50

Manoury, B., Hewitt, E.W., Morrice, N., Dando, P.M., Barrett, A.J., Watts, C. (1998). An asparaginyl endopeptidase processes a microbial antigen for class II MHC presentation. Nature 396: 695-699.

Mans, B.J., Neitz, A.W.H. (2004). Adaptation of ticks to blood-feeding environment: evolution from a functional perspective. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34: 1-17.

Marconi, R.T., Samuels, D.S., Schwan, T.G., Garon C.T. (1993). Identification of a protein in several *Borrelia* species which related to OspC of the Lyme disease spirochetes J. Clin. Microbiol. 31: 2577-2583.

Matsuo, T., Okoda, Y., Barbar, B., Inoue, N., Xuan, X., Taylor, D., Fujisaki, K. (2004). Fate of GFP-expressing *Escherichia coli* in the midgut and response to ingestion in a tick, *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Argasidae). Exp. Parasitol. 108: 67-73.

Mattila, J.T., Munderloh, U.G., Kurtti, T.J. (2007). *Rickettsia peacockii*, an endosymbiont of *Dermacentor andersoni*, does not elicit or inhibit humoral immune responses from immunocompetent *D. andersoni* or *Ixodes scapularis* cell lines. Dev. Comp. Immunol. In press

Mendiola, J., Alonso, M., Marquetti, M.C., Finlay, C. (1996). *Boophilus microplus*: multiple proteolytic activities in the midgut. Exp. Parasitol. 82: 27-33.

Munderloch, U.G., Kurtti, T.J. (1995). Cellular and molecular interrelationship between ticks and prokaryotic tick-borne pathogens. Annu. Rev. Entomol. 40: 221-243.

Mulenga, A., Misao, O., Sugimoto, C. (2003). Three serine proteinases from mitgut of the hard tick *Rhipicephalus appendiculatus*; cDNA cloning and preliminary characterization. Exp. App. Acar. 29: 151-164.

Mulenga, A., Sugimoto, C., Ingram, G., Ohashi, K., Onuma, M. (1999). Molecular cloning of two *Haemaphysalis longicornis* cathepsin L-like cysteine proteinase genes. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 61: 497-502.

Mulenga, A., Sugimoto, C., Ingram, G., Ohashi, K., Misao, O. (2001). Characterization of two cDNA encoding serine proteinase from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 31: 817-825.

Muta, T., Hashimoto, R., Miyata, T., Nishimura, H., Toh, Y., Iwanaga, S. (1990). Proclotting enzyme from horseshoe crab hemocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 265: 22426-22433.

Myioshi, T., Tsuji, N., Islam, M.K., Kamio, T., Fujisaki, K. (2004a). Clonning and molecular characterization of a cubilitin-related serine proteinase from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. Insect Bioch. Mol. Biol. 34: 799-808.

Myioshi, T., Tsuji, N., Islam, M.K., Kamio, T., Fujisaki, K. (2004b). Gene silencing of a cubilitin-related serine proteinase from the hard tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* by RNA interference. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 66: 1471-1473

Myioshi, T., Tsuji, N., Islam, M.K., Juany, X., Motobu, M., Alim, M.A., Fujisaki, K. (2007). Molecular and reverse genetic characterization of serine proteinase-induced hemolysis in the midgut of the ixodid tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis*. J. Insect Physiol. 53: 195-203.

Nakajima, Y., van der Goes van Naters-Yasui, A., Tailor, D., Yamakawa, M. (2001). Two isoforms of a member of the arthropod defensin family from the soft tick, *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Argasidae). Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 31: 747–751.

Nakajima, Y., van Der Goes van Naters-Yasui, A., Taylor, D., Yamakawa, M. (2002). Antibacterial peptide defensin is involved in midgut immunity of the soft tick, *Ornithodoros moubata*. Insect Mol. Biol. 11: 611–618.

Nakajima, Y., Ogihara, K., Taylor, D., Yamakawa, M. (2003). Antibacterial hemoglobin fragments from the midgut of the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* (Acari: Argasidae). J. Med. Entomol. 40: 78-81.

Nelson, P.S., Hawkins, V., Schummer, M., Bumgarner, R., Ng, W.L., Ideker, T., Ferguson, C., Hood, L. (1999). Negative selection: a method for obtaining low-abundance cDNAs using high-density cDNA clone arrays. Genet. Anal. 15: 209–215.

Nielsen, H., Engelbrecht, J., Brunak, S., von Heijne, G. (1997). Identification of prokaryotic and eukaryotic signal peptides and prediction of their cleavage sites. Protein Eng. 10: 1-6.

Novy, F.G., Knap, R.G. (1906). Studies on *Sprillum obermeiri* and related organisms. J. Infect. Dis. 3: 291-293.

Ogrinc, T., Dolenc, I., Ritonja, A., Turk, V. (1993). Purification of the complex of cathepsin L and the MHC class II-associated invariant chain fragment from human kidney. FEBS Lett. 336: 555–559.

Ohnishi, J., Piesman, J., de Silva, A.M. (2001). Antigenic and genetic heterogenity of *Borrelia burgdorferi* populations transmitted by ticks. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 98: 670-675.

Olson, J.E., Lee, G.K., Semenov, A., Rosenthal, P.J. (1999). Antimalarial effects in mice of orally administered peptidyl cysteine protease inhibitors. Bioorg. Med. Chem. 7: 633-638.

Pal, U., Li, X., Wang, T., Montgomery, R.R., Ramamoorthi, N., Desilva, A.M., Bao, F., Yang, X., Pypaert, M., Pradhan, D., Kantor, F.S., Telford, S., Anderson, J.F., Fikrig, E. (2004). TROSPA, an *Ixodes scapularis* receptor for *Borrelia burgdorferi*. Cell 119: 457-468.

Pereira, L.S., Oliveira, P.L., Barja-Fidalgo, C., Daffre, S. (2001). Production of reactive oxygen species by hemocytes from the cattle tick *Boophilus microplus*. Exp. Parasitol. 99: 66-72.

Podboronov, V.M., Berdyev A. (1991). Defence mechanisms of Ixodoid ticks and their hosts (parasite-host interaction). (In Russian), Ashkhabad, Ylym.

Rawlings, N.D., Morton, F.R., Barrett, A.J. (2006). *MEROPS*: the peptidase database. Nucleic Acids Res. 34: D270-D272.

Regel, R., Matioli, S.R., Terra, W.R. (1998). Molecular adaptation of *Drosophila melanogaster* lysozyme to a digestive function. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 28: 309–319.

Rego, R.O., Hajdušek, O., Kovář, V., Kopáček, P., Grubhoffer, L., Hypša, V. (2005). Molecular cloning and comparative analysis of fibrinogen-related proteins from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata* and the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 35: 991-1004.

Renard, G., Garcia, J.F., Cardoso, F.C., Richter, M.F., Sakanari, J.A., Ozaki, L.S., Termignoni, C., Masuda, A. (2000). Cloning and functional expression of a *Boophilus microplus* cathepsin L-like enzyme. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 30: 1017-1026.

Renard, G., Lara, F.A., de Cardoso, F.C., Miguens, F.C., Dansa-Petretski, M., Termignoni, C., Masuda, A. (2002). Expression and immunolocalization of a *Boophilus microplus* cathepsin L-like enzyme. Insect Mol. Biol. 11: 325-328.

Ribeiro, J.M., Alarcon-Chaidez, F.B., Francischetti, I.M., Mans, B.J., Mather, T.N., Valenzuela, J.G., Wikel, S.K. (2006). An annotated catalog of salivary gland transcripts from *Ixodes scapularis* ticks. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36: 111–129.

Rudzinska, M.A., Spielman, A., Lewengrub, S., Piesman, J. (1982). Penetration of the peritrophic membrane of the tick by *Babesia microti*. Cell Tissue Res. 221: 471–481.

Sako, Y., Sugimoto, C., Onuma, M. (1999). Cloning of a cysteine proteinase gene of *Theileria sergenti*. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 61: 271-3.

Sanders, H.R., Evans, A.M., Ross, L.S., Gill, S.S. (2003.). Blood meal induces global changes in midgut gene expression in the disease vector, *Aedes aegypti*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 33: 1105-1122.

Saravanan, T., Weise, C., Sojka, D., Kopáček, P. (2003). Molecular cloning, structure and bait region splice variants of alpha2-macroglobulin from the soft tick *Ornithodoros moubata*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 33: 841-851.

Schonemeyer, A., Lucius, R., Sonnenburg, B., Brattig, N., Sabat, R., Schilling, K., Bradley, J., Hartmann S. (2001). Modulation of human T cells response and macrophage functions by onchocystatin, a secreted protein of the filarial nematode *Onchocerca volvulus*. J. Immunol. 167: 3207-3215.

Schwan, E.V., Hutton, D., Shields, K.J., Townson, S. (1991). Artificial feeding and successful reproduction in *Ornithodoros moubata moubata* (Murray, 1877) (Acarina: Argasidae). Exp. Appl. Acarol. 13: 107-115.

Schwan, T.G., Hinnebusch, B.J. (1998). Bloodstream-versus tick-assiciated variants of relapsing fever bacterium. Science 280: 1938-1940.

Schwan, T.G., Piesman, J. (2000). Temporal changes in outer surface proteins A and C of the Lyme disease-associated spirochete, *Borrelia burgdorferi*, during the chain of infection in ticks and mice. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38: 382–388.

Schwan T.G., Piesman, J. (2002). Vector interactions and molecular adaptations of Lyme disease and relapsing fever spirochetes associated with transmission by ticks. Emerg. Infect. Dis. 8: 115–121.

Sforça, M.L., Machalo, A., Figueredo, R.C., Oyama, S. Jr., Silva, F.D., Miranda, A., Daffre, S., Miranda, M.T., Spisni, A., Pertinhez, T.A. (2005). The micelle-bound structure of an antimicrobial peptide derived from the alpha-chain of bovine hemoglobin isolated from the tick *Boophilus microplus*. Biochemistry 44: 6440-6451.

de Silva, A.M., Telford, S.R., Brunet, L.R., Barthold, S.W., Fikrig, E. (1996). *Borrelia burgdorferi* OspA is an arthropod-specific transmission-blocking Lyme disease vaccine. J. Exp. M. 183: 271–275.

Simser, J.A., Macaluso, K.R., Mulenga, A., Azad, A.F. (2004a). Immune-responsive lysozymes from hemocytes of the American dog tick, *Dermacentor variabilis* and an embryonic cell line of the Rocky Mountain wood tick, *D. andersoni*. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 34: 1235–1246.

Simser, J.A., Mulenga, A., Macaluso, K.R., Azad, A.F. (2004b). An immune responsive factor D-like serine proteinase homologue identified from the American dog tick, *Dermacentor variabilis*. Insect Mol. Biol. 13: 25-35.

Smit, J.D., Grandjean, O., Guggenheim, R., Winterhalter, K.H. (1977). Haemoglobin crystals in the midgut of the tick *Ornithodorus moubata* Murray. Nature 266: 536-538.

Sojka, D., Hajdušek, O., Dvořák, J., Sajid, M., Franta, Z., Schneider, E.L., Craik, C.S., Vancová, M., Burešová, V., Bogyo, M., Sexton, K.B., McKerrow, J.H., Caffrey, C.R., Kopáček, P. (2007). IrAE-An asparaginyl endopeptidase (legumain) in the gut of the hard tick *Ixodes ricinus*. Int. J. Parasitol. In press.

Sonenshine, D. E. (1991). Biology of Ticks, vol. 1, Oxford university Press, New York

Sonenshine, D.E., Ceraul, S.M., Hynes, W.E., Macaluso, K.R., Azad, A.F. (2002). Expression of defensin-like peptides in tick hemolymph and midgut in response to challenge with *Borrelia burgdorferi, Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus subtilis*. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 28: 127-34.

Sonenshine, D.E., Hynes, W.L., Ceraul, S.M., Mitchell, R., Benzine, T. (2005). Host blood proteins and peptides in the midgut of the tick *Dermacentor variabilis* contribute to bacterial control. Exp. Appl. Acarol. 36: 207-23.

Stewart, C.B., Schilling, J.W., Wilson, A.C. (1987). Adaptive evolution in the stomach lysozymes of foregut fermenters. Nature 330: 401–404.

Tatchell, R.J. (1964). Digestion in ticks, Argas persicus Oken. Parasitol. 54: 423-440.

Ting, K.L., Jernigan, R.L. (2002). Identifying a folding nucleus for the lysozyme/ α -lactalbumin family from sequence conservation clusters. J. Mol. Evol. 54: 425–436.

Turk, V., Bode, W. (1991). The cystatins: protein inhibitors of cysteine proteinases. FEBS Lett. 285: 213-219.

Turk ,B., Turk ,D., Turk,V. (2000). Lysosomal cysteine proteases: more than scavengers. Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1477: 98–111.

Van der Merwe, S. (1968). Some remarks on tampans of the *Ornithodoros moubata* complex in southern Africa. Zoolog. Anzaiger 181: 280-289.

Walton, G.A. (1979). A taxonomic review of the *Ornithodoros moubata* (Murray) 1877 (Sensu Walton, 1962) species group in Africa. Rec. Adv. Acar. II 49: 491-500.

Wheeler, C.M. (1935). A new species of tick which is a vector of relapsing fever in California. Am. J. Trop. Med. 15: 435-438.

Wolters, P.J., Raymond, W.W., Blount, J.L., Caughey, G.H. (1998). Regulated expression, processing, and secretion of dog mast cell dipeptidyl peptidase I. J. Biol. Chem. 273: 15514-15520.

Wood, A.W., Matsumoto, J., van der Kraak, G. (2004). Thyroglobulin Type-1 Domain protease inhibitors exhibit specific expression in the cortical ooplasm of vitellogenic Rainbow trout oocytes. Mol. Reprod. Dev. 69: 205-214.

Yang, X.F., Pal, U., Alani, S.M., Fikrig, E., Norgard, M.V. (2004). Essential role for OspA/B in the life cycle of the Lyme disease spirochete. J. Exp. Med. 199: 641-648.

Zhou, J., Ueda, M., Umemiya, R., Battsetseg, B., Boldbaatar, D., Xuan, X., Fujisaki, K. (2006). A secreted cystatin from the tick *Haemaphysalis longicornis* and its distinct expression patterns in relation to innate imunity. Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol. 36: 527-535.

Zhu, Z., Gern, L., Aeschlimann, A. (1991). The peritrophic membrane of *Ixodes ricinus*. Parasitol. Res. 77: 635–641.

Unpublished work:

Franta, Z., (2005). Mucin-like perithrophin z klíšťáka *Ornithodoros moubata*. Diploma work, University of South Bohemia, Faculty of Biological Sciences, Department of Parasitology